Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

11-28-2012

Earl v. State Appellant's Brief Dckt. 39751

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The nature of this case involves numerous causes and violations of Appellant's constitutional rights, including, but not limited to, the right to effective assistance of counsel throughout all legal proceedings.

Petitioner/Appellant maintains and asserts he has protection and certain undenialable rights under the United States and Idaho State Constitutions, and that those rights are being systematically violated and have been since the onset of all legal proceedings by persons acting under color of law.

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- I. Assistance of counsel as enunciated within the body of the sixth amendment to the U.S. Constitution;
- II. Subjection to double jeopardy for the same offense void of due process of law or just compensation;
- III. Rights to due process of law and equal protection under the law as guaranteed within the fifth and fourteenth amendments to the U.S. Constitution;
 - IV. Adherence to affording full faith and credit to judicial proceedings and to records enumerated in article four section 1 of the U.S. Constitution;
 - V. The right to petition the government for a redress of grievances asserted within the first amendment to the U.S. Constitution;
 - VI. Rights to be free of excessive fines and cruel and unusual punishments as enunciated in the eighth amendment to the U.S. Constitution and Idaho State Constitution, article 1 section 6;

- VII. Rights retained and reserved by the people as is enunciated within the ninth and tenth amendments to the U.S. Constitution and Idaho State Constitution article 1 sections 1, 13 & 18;
- VIII. Adherence to Idaho statutes, i.e. titles 20-209A and 19-2603.

ARGUMENT

It is the contention of Petitioner/Appellant with respect to the issues presented on appeal that he has been plagued from the onset of the State's case with ineffective assistance of counsel.

Ineffective assistance of counsel manifested itself early on when appellant was coerced into changing his plea of innocence to one of guilty through subjugation by creation of fear by original counsel appointed to represent him in this matter without benefit or any attempt to mitigate or exculpate him, which is coercion & a failure to act in a responsible and effective manner. Black's law defines coercion in part as: implied, legal or constructive, as where one party is constrained by subjugation to other to do what his free will would refuse. A person is guilty of coercion if , with purpose to unlawfully restrict another's freedom of action to his detriment, take or withhold action as an official, or cause an official to take or withhold action.

In United States v. Wade, 388 U.S. 218 (1967), the Supreme Court held that the Sixth Amendment right to counsel attaches to "critical stages" of pretrial proceedings. Critical stages are those points in a criminal proceeding when an attorney's

presence is necessary to secure the defendant's right to a fair trial. Id. at 224-27; see Powell v. Alabama, 287 U.S. 45, 57 69 (1932) (period from arraignment to trial is "perhaps the most critical period of the proceedings" during which defendant "requires the guiding hand of counsel).

In this case there is no guiding hand which is assertion that encompasses counsel appointed to represent appellant at the post-conviction and appellate levels by Appellate Public Defender and Mini-Cassia Public Defender Office.

This matter has a plea agreement attached to it based on coercion and policies, customs and practices without affording the Appellant the opportunity to fully exercise his rights, including but not limited to rights to due process and equal protection under constitutional law.

Moreover, there are instances of ineffective representation at the post-conviction and appellate stages of this case. For example, the Addendum Brief filed with the Fifth District Court for Minidka County on behalf of the Appellant, by the Mini-Cassia Public Defender Office briefed the court on The Correct Standard for Determination on an Award of Credit for Time Served. Public Defender supports his position with numerous cites to Idaho Statute and state case law. Please review Exhibit A Addendum

Brief.

However, he fails to brief the Court on, or mention any of Appellant's other claims as out-lined in the Appellant's Petition and Affidavit in Support of Post-Conviction Relief.

Contrary to failures of the Addendum Brief to address any of his claims is the Appellant's Petition where contained therein are numerous assertions pointing towards cognizable claims, as well as written and stated in a fashion that should be liberally construed in a light most favorable with latitude extended that every person whom proceeds pro-se enjoys under existing case law. Please review Exhibit B Petition and Affidavit in Support.

Furthermore, the public defender does not discuss with him amending or augmenting to his Petition in a manner strengthening the issues within it. Additionally, Appellant takes issue with legal representation provided and/or lack thereof, from the Idaho State Appellate Office. Again, an example where Appellant's Petition is not viewed in a light most favorable to him and there materializes the same problem as previous, in regard to failures to act either through a lack of information or making any inquiry, and/or lack of communication.

Where sufficient gathered information through inquiry and communication, attorney to client should occur, but instead, in effect, the appellate defender dismisses the Appellant's Petition by having filed a motion with this Court for Leave to

Withdraw on the grounds it has no merit, thereby throwing him and any claims to relief he may have been entitled to thrown to the wayside. Please See Exhibit C Order appointing Appellate Defender.

The Supreme Court has stated, "It is now established beyond doubt that prisoners have a constitutional right of access to the Courts." Bounds v. Smith, 430 U.S. 817, 821, 97 S.Ct. 1491 (1977) The courts have cited the Due Process Clause, the Equal Protection Clause, the First Amendment, and the Privileges and Immunities Clause of Article IV of the Constitution as the basis for those rights. MURRAY V. Giarratano, 492 U.S. 1, 11 n. 6, 109 S.Ct. 2765 (1989).

The right to appointed counsel is required at criminal trial and appellate proceedings and to civil proceedings that may deprive a non-prisoner of liberty. See Murray v. Giarratano, 492 U.S. at 7, and Lassiter v. Dept. of Social Services, 452 U.S. 18 101 S.Ct. 2153 (1981).

Prisoners, Persons alike, must have court access that is "adequate, effective, and meaningful." Bounds v. Smith, id. at 822. All categories of prisoner/persons are entitled to court access, and that right extends to Post-conviction proceedings, habeas corpus petitions, civil rights actions and other civil proceedings. Bounds v. Smith, 430 U.S. at 827 ("original action seeking new trials, release from confinement or vindication of fundamental rights").

II. Article 4 Sections 1 and 2.

Article 4 Section / states: Full faith and credit shall be given in each state to the public acts, records and judicial proceedings of every other state. And the congress may by general laws prescribe the manner in which such acts, records and proceedings shall be proved, and the effect thereof.

Article 4 Section 1., Opened to interpretation should be as an open door swinging both ways. The documents entitled Court Minutes, (attached hereto) do not reflect records of a transcript and/or recorded minutes that could be construed as records given to Full Faith and Credit.

On the contrary, they are records of a judicial proceeding recorded minutes that are vague, lacking specifics and clarity.

i.e. @ Exhibit Also supporting this contention is verbal communication from public defender and the court found in the Court Minutes at a status hearing 10/3/2011. i.e. Exhibit p at pg. 63. It reads in part: Court explains prior employment with Minidoka Prosecutor and to discuss with client if any concern.

However, the record fails to make any further mention of it, or whether or not Appellant was made aware of the fact that the judge had ascended to his position while employed with the minidoka Prosecutor, or whether the issue was resolved through agreement, if any. This creates a thought where a situation requiring the Appellant's legal consent, very well could have

had dire consequenes to his ability to exercise his rights, including but not limited to his right of access to the courts, all possibly generated by infficial interests that are favorable to the state.

Article 4 Section 2. @ (1) states in part: The citizens of each state shall be entitled to all privileges and immunities of citizens in the several states. The Privileges & Immunities Clause is a foundation for a U.S. Constitutional right of access to the courts. i.e. Murray v. Giarratano, 492 U.S. 1, 11 n. 6, 109 S.Ct. 2765 (1989).

Article 1 Section 6 Idaho State Constitution First Amendment, & Rights retained by the people under 9th, 10th Amendments to the U.S. Constitution and Idaho State Constitution

people under 9th, 10th Amendments to the U.S. Constitution and Idaho State Constitution Article 1 Sections 1, 13, and 18.

In some cases, prisoners have rights under state constitutions that are more extensive than federal constitutional rights. i.e. Cooper v. Morin, 49 N.Y.2d 69 (1979), cert. denied, 446 U.S. 984 (1980), and Block v. Rutherford, 468 U.S. 589 (1984). Several state constitutions support a right to rehabilitation, or more extensive due process rights than the federal constitution provides.

The Appellant contends that serving a state (10) year sentence running concurrently with another, plus (10) year consecutive and (20) year installment plan in a system in use of policies, customs and practices geared towards financial gains and savings APPELLANT'S BRIEF

causing (10) year extensions to further state supervision is in effect, additional punishments to those already inflicted by & through policies, customs or practices causing extreme mental distress and confusion, and emotional and physical pain and is tantamount to violations of the Fifth and Eighth Amendments and contrary to Article 1 Sections 1, 6, 13, and 18. of the Idaho State Constitution.

To violate the Eighth Amendment, deprivations of basic needs must be serious enough to amount to the "wanton and unnecessary infliction of Pain." Rhodes v. Chapmen, 452 U.S. at 347; accord, Wilson v. Seiter, 111 S.Ct. at 2324. However, they need not inflict physical injury for e.g., Hicks v. Frey, 992 F.2d 1450, 1457 (6th Cir. 1993) ("Extreme conduct by custodians that causes severe emotional distress is sufficient."); Scher v. Engelke,943 F.2d 921, 924 (8th Cir. 1981) (evidence of "fear, mental anguish and misery" can establish the requisite injury for an Eighth Amendment claim), cert. denied, 112 S.Ct. 1516 (1992), or cause lasting or permanent harm. Boretti V. Wiscomb, 930 F.2d 1150, 1154-55(6th Cir. 1991).

Conditions that are physically and mentally harmful, but serve a legitimate penological objective, such as restrictions in high security units, may not violate the Eighth Amendment. i.e., e.g. Anderson v. Coughlin, 157 F.2d 33, 36 (2d Cir. 1985); Bono v. Saxbe, 620 F.2d 609, 614 (7th Cir. 1980).

Contrariwise, one court has held that it is unconstitutional to inflict "serious psychological pain" on inmates to serve a "minor [correctional] concern," "routine and automatic security concerns," or "pragmatic interests of lesser significance." See Jordan v. Gardner, 986 F.2d 1521, 1530 (9th Cir. 1993)(en banc).

At least one other federal appeals court has held that Eighth Amendment claims may be supported by "evidence of a serious or insignificant physical or emotional injury," adding that if sufficient pain was inflicted to violate the Eighth Amendment, such injury would result. Strickler v. Waters, 989 F.2d 1375, 1381 (4th Cir.), cert. denied, 114 S.Ct. 393 (1993).

The Eighth Amendment standard "draw[s] its meaning from the evolving standards of decency that mark the progress of a maturing society." Rhodes v. Chapmen, 452 U.S. at 346, quoting Trop v. Dulles, 356 U.S. 86, 101, 78 S.Ct. 590 (1958); accord, Helling v. McKinney, _____ U.S. ____, 113 S.Ct. 2475, 2480 (1993).

The courts have not mentioned much about how these standards evolve. However, at least one court has stated that standards of decency rise with society's standard of living. Davenport v. DeRobertis, 844 F.2d 1310, 1314-16 (7th Cir. 1988), cert.denied, 488 U.S. 908 (1989).

IV. <u>Causations and Double jeopardy</u> Due process and Time Served

Appellant maintains that time spent on parole up to the moment and disposition as to a finding that a parole violation has been established, can be credited towards time served. In other words, the appellant, acting in good faith can be awarded time served for each day spent on parole, served in good faith, by the Idaho Board of Pardons and Parole up to a finding of fact establishing a violation of parole has occurred.

A) Liberty Interests

The Idaho Board of Pardons and Parole exists not only for conducting parole hearings but also to pardon, commute, awarding credit for time served and supervise persons released to parole pursuant to parole statutes. However, the federal constitution does not require states to maintain a parole system and does not create a right to parole release. Greenholtz v. Inmates of the Nebraska Penal Correctional Complex, 442 U.S. 1, 7, 99 S.Ct.2100 (1979); also Inmates v. Ohio State Adult Parole Auth., 929 F.2d 233, 238 (6th Cir. 1991). There is no constitutionally protected right to parole release or to due process of law in release proceedings unless state statutes or regulations create a liberty interest in parole release. See, e.g., In re Trantino, 177 N.J. Super. 499, 427 A.2d (1981) (legislature is obligated by state constitution to provide for parole).

Idaho State Constitution Article 1 Sections 1, 2, 13 and 18 contain mandatory language therein creating expectations that further defending liberty, special privileges, liberty through due process of law with justice freely administered to every person with remedies afforded in injury of person, character, and with rights and justice administered without denial, delay or prejudice. And see, Exhibit IDOC Handbook @ pg. 34, # 5 in respect to directions toward rehabilitation. Appellant asserts that he has served a total of 76 months of incarceration, of a 120 month sentence, leaving (44) months. The Idaho Board of Pardons and Parole have jurisdiction over this matter and can commute and/or provide an award of time served for the remainder, of the sentence based on time served while under strict parole supervision performed in good faith with a reccomendation from this Court in reflection of the same.

B) Double Jeopardy, Cruel and Unusual Punishment

Appellant remains dedicated to the contention that a (10) yr. sentence running concurrently with another, with (10) years added under strict parole supervision amounts to violation of the double jeopardy clause and constitutes cruel and unusual punishment based on policies, customs and practices of the IDOC and the state attorney generals office.

Those whom directly participate in constitutional violations may be held answerable for their actions. See, e.g., Cortes-Quinones v. Jiminez-Nettleship, 842 F.2d 556, 559-61 (1st Cir. 1988) (holding Director of Penal Institutions, Corrections Administrator and jail superintendent liable for their roles in placing a mentally inmate in general population where there was no psychiatric care), cert. denied, 488 U.S. 823 (1988); Martin v. Lane, 766 F.Supp. 641, 649-50 (N.D.III. 1991)(an allegation that the warden ordered a lockdown and the departmental director approved it sufficiently alleged their personal involvement in the resulting constitutional deprivations).

Officials may be held answerable for failures to act if they cause constitutional violations. "Acts of omission are actionable ... to the same extent as acts of commission." Smith v. Ross, 482 F.2d 33, 36 (6th Cir. 1978); accord, Estelle v. Gamble, 429 U.S. 97, 106, 97 S.Ct. 285 (1976) (medical care claims may be based on "acts or omissions"); Alexander v. Perrill, 916 F.2d 1392, 1395 (9th Cir. 1990) (prison officials "can't just sit on their duffs and not do anything" to prevent violations of rights).

Officials may be held to answer "if they set into motion a series of events" that he or she knew or reasonably should have known would cause a constitutional violation, even if others actually performed the violation. Conner v. Reinhard, 847 F.2d 384, 397 (7th Cir.), cert. denied, 488 U.S. 856 (1988); accord,

Greason v. Kemp, 891 F.2d 829, 836 (11th Cir. 1990) (" a supervisor can be held liable under section 1983 when a reasonable person in the supervisor's position would have known that his conduct infringed on the constitutional rights of the plaintiff, ... even though his conduct was causally related to the constitutional violation committed by his subordinate,...") (footnote and citations omitted).

Those who set policy, write regulations, or give orders may be held answerable even if not directly involved in enforcement of a policy, custom or practice. Redman v. County of San Diego, 942 F.2d 1435, 1446-49 (9th Cir. 1991) (en banc) (Sheriff who tolerated overcrowding and approved a dangerous classification policy could be held liable even though he did not know of the specific danger to the plaintiff; captain who wrote the policy could also be liable, cert. denied, 112 C.Ct. 972 (1992); Boswell v. Sherburne County, 849 F.2d 1117, 1123 (10th Cir. 1988) (sheriff and chief jailer could be held liable for policy of minimizing medical costs), cert. denied, 488 U.S. 1010 (1989).

A policy, custom or practice need not be formal or written to serve as a basis for liability. Leach v. Shelby County Sheriff, 891 F.2d 1241, 1246 (6th Cir. 1989) (evidence that the Sheriff "implicitly authorized, approved, or knowingly acquiesced" in his subordinates' action could support his liability), cert. denied, 495 U.S. 932 (1990); Smith v. Jordan, 527 F.Supp. 167, 170-71 (S.D. Ohio 1981) (Sheriff might be liable for jails "standard procedures"); Ruiz v. Estelle, 679 F.2d 1115, 1154-55 (5th Cir.

1982) (systemwide injunction against prison system's managers could be entered based on "prevalent" unlawful practices), cert. denied, 460 U.S. 1042 (1983).

"tacit authorization" may be sufficient. Fruit v. Norris, 905
F.2d 1147, 1151 (8th Cir. 1990); Bolin v.Black, 875 F.2d 1343,
1348 (8th Cir. 1989), cert. denied, 110 S.Ct. 542 (1990); Pool v.
Missouri Dept. of Corrections and Human Resources, 883 F.2d 640,
645 (8th Cir. 1989).

The Double Jeopardy Clause protects a defendant from even the "risk" of being punished twice for the same offense. Abney v. U.S. 431 U.S. 651, 660-62 (1977) (double jeopardy challenges immediately appealable because Double Jeopardy Clause protects against even "risk" of conviction, including "personal strain, public embarrassment, and expense of a trial more than once for the same offense").

Although a guilty plea waives some constitutional claims, it does not necessarily waive a claim of double jeopardy. U.S. v. Kunzman, 125 F.3d 1363, 1365 (10th Cir. 1997) (defendant's entry of unconditional guilty plea does not waive right to assert a double jeopardy claim), cert. denied, 118 S.Ct. 1375 (1998).

In sentencing, the Double Jeopardy Clause prohibits courts from punishing defendants twice for the same. Ex parte Lange, 85 U.S. (18 Wall.) 163, 176 (1873)(defendant who suffered full punishment for offense could not be subjected to another).

V. CONCLUSION

The claims are prima facie and not beyond the realm of possibilities. This is not a case where it starts and goes nowhere. Therefore, Appellant Respectfully Requests and Prays Cousel be restored to him by this Court's appointment and the claims as stated be allowed to move forward vindicating his legal rights and allowed to encompass all phases of litigation from beginning to end.

We Request as well, that this Brief be reviewed under Pro-Se Standards, viewed liberally in a light most favorable to the Appellant. It is also requested the Court grant the Motion to Augment and Affidavit in support to and in supporting Appellant's Brief and assertions therein. Appellant requests this Court to issue a Declaration stating he has certain constitutional rights and the right to exercise those rights.

We also Request that the Court make a written recommendation to the Idaho Board of Parden and Parole recommending commuting or providing an award of time served based on the time spent while on supervised parole served in good faith. Requesting as well, that the Court recommend a final discharge on both and/or one of his cases. In conclusion, a request as well to be granted leave to amend or bring the case in a more appropriate legal vehicle, or in the alternative any such relief the Court deems proper.