Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

2-19-2013

Earl v. State Respondent's Brief Dckt. 39751

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Duaine Frederick Earl appeals, *pro se*, from the summary dismissal of his petition for post-conviction relief.

Statement of Facts and Course of the Proceedings

The relevant facts as outlined by the district court in its memorandum decision are as follows:

Duaine Fredrick Earl was sentenced on March 6, 2000 after pleading guilty to violating I.C. 18-6101(1), rape. The court sentenced Mr. Earl to a unified sentence of ten (10) years with one (1) year determinate, but retained jurisdiction. Mr. Earl was granted supervised probation upon returning from his rider but later violated that probation.

A report of the probation violation was filed on or about May 7, 2002 and Mr. Earl later failed to appear to his evidentiary hearing regarding that violation. Mr. Earl was later apprehended and admitted to violating his probation. Mr. Earl then had his original sentence imposed on November 25, 2002 and he was granted credit for time served. The amount of time credited was left out of the original Order on Motion to Revoke Probation dated December 2, 2002, but based upon a stipulation by the parties in this action the time credited is 232 days.

Mr. Earl has filed an application for post-conviction relief and the State has moved for Summary Dismissal of the matter. Mr. Earl is asserting that he should be granted credit for time served on probation, and as such he should be released immediately as his full term release date under that calculation would have been February 24, 2010.

(R., pp.89-90.)

Following a hearing on the state's motion for summary judgment, the court granted the state's motion and dismissed Earl's petition for post-conviction relief

finding no genuine issue of material fact. (R., pp.89-96.) Earl timely appealed.¹ (R., pp.100-102.)

¹ The State Appellate Public Defender ("SAPD") was originally appointed to represent Earl in his appeal. (R., pp.105-108.) The SAPD subsequently withdrew from the representation of Earl based on its position that "[a]fter a thorough review, each of the three attorneys were unable to identify a viable issue for appeal." (Affidavit in Support of Motion For Leave to Withdraw And Motion to Suspend the Briefing Schedule, p. 2.)

ISSUES

Earl states the issues on appeal as:

- I. Assistance of counsel as enunciated within the body of the sixth amendment to the U.S. Constitution:
- II. Subjection to double jeopardy for the same offense void of due process of law or just compensation;
- III. Rights to due process of law and equal protection under the law as guaranteed within the fifth and fourteenth amendments to the U.S. Constitution;
- IV. Adherence to affording full faith and credit to judicial proceedings and to records enumerated in article four section 1 of the U.S. Constitution:
- V. The right to petition the government for a redress of grievances asserted within the first amendment to the U.S. Constitution;
- VI. Rights to be free of excessive fines and cruel and unusual punishments as enunciated in the eighth amendment to the U.S. Constitution and Idaho State Constitution, article 1 section 6;
- VII. Rights retained and reserved by the people as is enunciated within the ninth and tenth amendments to the U.S. Constitution and Idaho State Constitution article 1 sections 1, 13, & 18;
- VIII. Adherence to Idaho statutes, i.e. titles 20-209A and 19-2603.

(Appellant's brief, pp.4-5 (verbatim).)

The state rephrases the issue as follows:

Has Earl failed to show error in the district court's summary dismissal of his petition for post-conviction relief?

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

Earl Has Failed To Establish That The District Court Erred In Summarily Dismissing His Petition For Post-Conviction Relief

A. Introduction

The state moved for summary dismissal of Earl's petition for post-conviction relief, asserting Earl's claims regarding credit for time served, an alleged violation of his double jeopardy rights, and an alleged violation of the sentencing reform act were "bare and conclusory statements unsubstantiated by fact" and they "fail[ed] to raise a genuine issue of material fact. " (R., p.49.) Earl, through counsel, then filed an "Addendum Brief" addressing the issue of credit for time served. (R., pp.66-78.) Following a hearing, the district court granted the state's motion for summary judgment "[a]fter review of the record and finding no genuine issue of material fact." (R., p.95.)

On appeal, Earl reasserts his original claims that he did not receive proper credit for time served, his sentence violated his rights against double jeopardy, was cruel and unusual, and violated his due process protections. (Appellant's brief, pp.4-5.)

Earl's arguments on appeal fail. He has not shown that the district court erred in summarily dismissing his post-conviction relief petition.

B. Standard Of Review

The appellate court exercises free review over the district court's application of the Uniform Post Conviction Procedure Act. Evensiosky v. State, 136 Idaho 189, 190, 30 P.3d 967, 968 (2001). On appeal from summary

dismissal of a post-conviction petition, the appellate court reviews the record to determine if a genuine issue of material fact exists, which, if resolved in the applicant's favor, would entitle the applicant to the requested relief. Matthews v. State, 122 Idaho 801, 807, 839 P.2d 1215, 1221 (1992); Aeschliman v. State, 132 Idaho 397, 403, 973 P.2d 749, 755 (Ct. App. 1999). Appellate courts freely review whether a genuine issue of material fact exists. Edwards v. Conchemco, Inc., 111 Idaho 851, 852, 727 P.2d 1279, 1280 (Ct. App. 1986).

C. <u>Earl Has Waived Consideration Of Claims Not Raised In His Petition</u> For Post-Conviction Relief

Earl raises new claims for the first time on appeal. He now asserts there were "numerous causes and violations of [his] constitutional rights, including, but not limited to, the right to effective assistance of counsel throughout all legal proceedings," he did not receive the benefit of "full faith and credit to judicial proceedings," and his first, ninth and tenth amendment rights were violated. (Appellant's brief, pp.4-5).) These claims were not asserted in his petition. (R., p.2.)

It is a fundamental tenet of appellate law that a claim not raised before the district court will not be considered on appeal. <u>State v. Carlson</u>, 134 Idaho 389, 398, 3 P.3d 67, 76 (Ct. App. 2000). Because these issues were not asserted in Earl's petition for post-conviction relief, they are not properly before this Court on appeal.

D. <u>Earl Has Failed To Establish That The District Court Erred In</u> Summarily Dismissing His Petition For Post-Conviction Relief

A petition for post-conviction relief initiates a new and independent civil proceeding and the petitioner bears the burden of establishing, by a preponderance of the evidence, that he is entitled to relief. Workman v. State, 144 Idaho 518, 522, 164 P.3d 798, 802 (2007); State v. Bearshield, 104 Idaho 676, 678, 662 P.2d 548, 550 (1983). However, a petition for post-conviction relief differs from a complaint in an ordinary civil action. A petition must contain more than "a short and plain statement of the claim" that would suffice for a complaint. Workman, 144 Idaho at 522, 164 P.3d at 522 (referencing I.R.C.P. 8). The petitioner must submit verified facts within his personal knowledge and produce admissible evidence to support his allegations. Id. (citing I.C. § 19-4903). Furthermore, the factual showing in a post-conviction relief application must be in the form of evidence that would be admissible at an evidentiary hearing. Drapeau v. State, 103 Idaho 612, 617, 651 P.2d 546, 551 (1982); Cowger v. State, 132 Idaho 681, 684, 978 P.2d 241, 244 (Ct. App. 1999).

Idaho Code § 19-4906 authorizes summary dismissal of an application for post-conviction relief in response to a party's motion or on the court's own initiative. "To withstand summary dismissal, a post-conviction applicant must present evidence establishing a prima facie case as to each element of the claims upon which the applicant bears the burden of proof." State v. Lovelace, 140 Idaho 53, 72, 90 P.3d 278, 297 (2003) (citing Pratt v. State, 134 Idaho 581, 583, 6 P.3d 831, 833 (2000)). Thus, a claim for post-conviction relief is subject to summary dismissal pursuant to I.C. § 19-4906 "if the applicant's evidence raises

no genuine issue of material fact" as to each element of petitioner's claims. Workman, 144 Idaho at 522, 164 P.3d at 802 (citing I.C. § 19-4906(b), (c)); Lovelace, 140 Idaho at 72, 90 P.3d at 297. While a court must accept a petitioner's unrebutted allegations as true, the court is not required to accept either the applicant's mere conclusory allegations, unsupported by admissible evidence, or the applicant's conclusions of law. Workman, 144 Idaho at 522, 164 P.3d at 802 (citing Ferrier v. State, 135 Idaho 797, 799, 25 P.3d 110, 112 (2001)). If the alleged facts, even if true, would not entitle the petitioner to relief, the trial court is not required to conduct an evidentiary hearing prior to dismissing the petition. Id. (citing Stuart v. State, 118 Idaho 865, 869, 801 P.2d 1216, 1220 (1990)). "Allegations contained in the application are insufficient for the granting of relief when (1) they are clearly disproved by the record of the original proceedings, or (2) do not justify relief as a matter of law." Id.

In its order granting the state's motion for summary judgment and dismissing Earl's petition for post-conviction relief, the district court articulated the applicable legal standards (R., pp.90-92) and set forth, in detail, the reasons Earl failed to establish a genuine issue of material fact on any of his claims (R., pp.92-95). The state adopts the district court's written opinion as its argument on appeal, a copy of which is attached hereto as Appendix A. Earl does not specifically challenge any of the court's findings or legal conclusions (see generally Appellant's Brief), and he has otherwise failed to establish the district court erred in dismissing his petition.

CONCLUSION

The state respectfully requests that this Court affirm the district court's order summarily dismissing Earl's petition for post-conviction relief.